28

JONES VARGAS

VS.

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NEVADA STATE DEMOCRATIC PARTY; AND ROSS MILLER, IN HIS CAPACITY AS SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA.

Supreme Court Docket 2011 04:07 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman

Appellants,

NEVADA REPUBLICAN PARTY; AND DAVID BUELL,

Respondents.

Appeal from the FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, CARSON CITY, NEVADA THE HONORABLE JAMES TODD RUSSELL. District Judge District Court Case No. 11-OC-00147 1B

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

#### **JONES VARGAS**

BRADLEY SCOTT SCHRAGER, ESO. Nevada Bar No. 10217 3773 Howard Hughes Parkway Third Floor South Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 Telephone: (702) 862-3300 Facsimile: (702) 737-7705

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court should reverse the judgment of the district court for two reasons. First, the plain language of N.R.S. 304.240 compels the Secretary's Interpretation. The statutory language does not support alternative constructions. Second, even if the statutory text supports multiple readings of the statute and is therefore ambiguous, the Secretary's Interpretation is reasonable and should be afforded deference by this Court.

N.R.S. 304.240(1) provides that "[a] candidate of a major political party is nominated by filing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the time prescribed by the Secretary of State pursuant to N.R.S. 293.204." N.R.S. 304.240(1). The Secretary and Respondents agree—and the district court found—that N.R.S. 304.240 is the vehicle by which major party candidates are "nominated" and placed on the special election ballot.

The only disagreement is with respect to the conditions that a major party candidate must fulfill to be nominated. Giving effect to the plain language of N.R.S. 304.240(1), the Secretary's Interpretation concludes that it is sufficient for the major party candidate to file a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the prescribed time. Diverging from the plain language of N.R.S. 304.240(1), Respondents would have this Court read into N.R.S. 304.240(1) a separate condition from a different statute, requiring a major party candidate to be designated by her or his major party central committee pursuant to N.R.S. 293.165 before filing the declaration or acceptance of candidacy.

Nothing in the plain language of N.R.S. 304.240(1) or its legislative history supports Respondents' interpretation. As this Court consistently has stated for nearly one hundred years, imposing an additional statutory condition where none exists is strongly disfavored. *See Merritt v. Merritt*, 40 Nev. 385, 160 P. 22, 23 (Nev. 1916). No argument offered by Respondents or the district court justifies the departure from these cardinal rules of statutory interpretation. On these grounds alone, this Court should reverse the judgment of the district court and uphold the Secretary's Interpretation.

4 5

7 8

6

10

12

11

13 14

> 15 16

17

18 19

20 21

22

23

24

25

26

27

///

28

But even if the statute could support multiple readings, and is therefore ambiguous, the Secretary's Interpretation is reasonable and should be afforded deference by this Court. This Court traditionally affords great deference to interpretations promulgated by the agency authorized to administer the statute. That deference is even greater where, as here, the legislature has specifically given a constitutional officer the power to interpret and enforce Nevada's election laws.

Moreover, the Secretary's Interpretation is clearly reasonable and leads to a sensible and commonplace outcome that is consistent with traditional electoral processes. It interprets N.R.S. 304.240(1) in a manner consistent with N.R.S. Chapter 293. It reasonably concludes that N.R.S. 293.165 does not apply to special elections to fill U.S. House seats, because no "vacancy occurring in a major or minor political party nomination" has occurred and because N.R.S. 293.165 cannot be harmonized with N.R.S. 304.240(1). It also properly distinguishes the situation here, where there is a specific statute prescribing how major party candidates are nominated for elections to fill congressional vacancies, from the circumstances confronting this Court in Brown v. Georgetta, 70 Nev. 500, 275 P.2d 376 (1954), where no such statute existed and where this Court felt compelled to fill a statutory gap.

Finally, Nevada's special election statute is consistent with the First Amendment. Respondents allege that N.R.S. 304.240(1) will result in voter confusion. Respondents, however, did not present any evidence tending to show that the statute will result in widespread voter confusion among a well-informed electorate. Respondents' other First Amendment argument is equally without merit. By claiming that the First Amendment affords political parties the unfettered right to place their candidate of choice on the ballot and exclude all others bearing their party's name, Respondents ask this Court to endorse an argument that the U.S. Supreme Court and Ninth Circuit have repeatedly dismissed. As a result, there is no First Amendment violation.

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the judgment of the district court, lift the district court's injunction, authorize the Secretary of State to reinstate his Interpretation to the extent possible, and dismiss Respondents' lawsuit.

| 1 |  |
|---|--|
|   |  |

## 

## 

## 

## 

## 

### 

## 

### 

## 

### 

### 

### 

## 

### 

### 

## 

## 

# 

## 

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. The Plain Language Of N.R.S. 304.240(1) Compels The Secretary's Interpretation

The plain language of N.R.S. 304.240 compels the Secretary's Interpretation. It does not support alternative constructions of the statute. When "a statute uses words that have a definite and plain meaning, the words will retain that meaning unless it clearly appears that the Legislature did not intend such a meaning." *City of Reno v. Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council of N. Nev.*, -- P.3d --, 2011 WL 1205272 (Nev. March 31, 2011). Courts are "not empowered to go beyond the face of an unambiguous statute to lend it construction contrary to its plain meaning and not apparent from the legislative history." *State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Miller*, 112 Nev. 1112, 1120, 923 P.2d 577, 582 (Nev. 1996). As the district court acknowledges, there is nothing in the legislative history that in any way calls into question the statute's plain language. *See* District Court Order, R, 267 ("The Court has reviewed the scant legislative history and finds that it does not assist the Court in resolving the particular matter.").

Therefore, this Court should look to the language of the statute itself to determine how major party candidates are nominated. This provision contains five clauses, the first three of which apply to major party candidates:<sup>1</sup>

<u>Clause 1</u>: If the Governor issues an election proclamation calling for a special election pursuant to N.R.S. 304.230, no primary election may be held.

Clause 1 clearly provides that no primary election may be held to nominate major

Clauses 4 and 5, which set forth the procedure for placing minor party candidates and independent candidates on the ballot, read as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Clause 4</u>: A minor political party that wishes to place its candidates on the ballot must file a list of its candidates with the Secretary of State not more than 46 days before the special election and not less than 32 days before the special election.

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Clause 5</u>: To have his or her name appear on the ballot, an independent candidate must file a petition of candidacy with the appropriate filing officer not more than 46 days before the special election and not less than 32 days before the special election.

party candidates.

.

Clause 2: Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, a candidate must be nominated in the manner provided in chapter 293 of N.R.S. and must file a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the time prescribed by the Secretary of State pursuant to N.R.S. 293.204, which must be established to allow a sufficient amount of time for the mailing of election ballots.

The first part of Clause 2 confirms that where N.R.S. 304.240 and other provisions of N.R.S. Chapter 293 are inconsistent, the procedures set forth in N.R.S. 304.240 trump the procedures set forth in N.R.S. Chapter 293. *See* N.R.S. 304.240(1) (emphasis added) ("*[e]xcept as otherwise provided in this subsection*, a candidate must be nominated in the manner provided in chapter 293 of N.R.S."). This sentence establishes a clear interpretive rule: Where N.R.S. 304.240 specifies procedures to nominate candidates, those procedures govern; where N.R.S. 304.240 is silent, applicable procedures set forth in N.R.S. Chapter 293 apply.<sup>2</sup> The second part of Clause 2 clarifies that a candidate, regardless of party status, must file a declaration or an acceptance of candidacy as a necessary condition of being nominated and placed on the ballot. *See id.* (stating that a candidate "must file a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the time prescribed by the Secretary of State pursuant to N.R.S. 293.204....").

<u>Clause 3</u>: A candidate of a major political party is nominated by filing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the time prescribed by the Secretary of State pursuant to N.R.S. 293.204.

As to how a major party candidate is nominated, Clause 3 of N.R.S. 304.240(1) could not be clearer: "A candidate of a major political party is nominated by filing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the time prescribed by the Secretary of State pursuant to N.R.S. 293.204." Id.<sup>3</sup> This language is plain and unambiguous. It refers to a clear subject ("a candidate of a major political party"); it sets forth a single condition that the subject must satisfy ("filing a declaration or

The cross-referenced provision in turn states that "[i]f a special election is held pursuant to the provisions of this title, the Secretary of State shall prescribe the time during which a candidate must file a declaration or acceptance of candidacy." N.R.S. 293.204.

A separate provision, N.R.S. 293.175(5), renders certain provisions of N.R.S. Chapter 293 inapplicable to special elections. More specifically, it states that "[t]he provisions of N.R.S. 293.175 to 293.203, inclusive, do not apply to . . . (a) Special elections to fill vacancies." N.R.S. 293.175(5) does not affect any other provisions of N.R.S. Chapter 293.

acceptance of candidacy within the time prescribed by the Secretary of State pursuant to N.R.S. 293.204"); and it mandates a specific result when the subject satisfies the prescribed condition (the candidate "is nominated").

In ¶ 2 of his Interpretation, the Secretary construes Clause 3 to mean that "[m]ajor political party candidates are nominated and will appear on the special election ballot by filing a declaration of candidacy or acceptance of candidacy within the time and on the form prescribed by the Secretary of State." R, 32. This interpretation tracks the language of Clause 3 nearly word for word. The only difference is that ¶ 2 clarifies that a major party candidate who is "nominated" pursuant to N.R.S. 304.240(1) also qualifies for the special election ballot. That clarification is beyond dispute. See District Court Order, R, 270 (finding that to "give effect to [Clause 3] regarding major party candidates," the Clause must be read to "provide[] the method for placing a major party candidate on the ballot.").

The Secretary and Respondents disagree on only one thing: the conditions that the major party candidate must satisfy to be nominated and placed on the ballot. Giving effect to the plain language of Clause 3, the Secretary's Interpretation requires the major party candidate to satisfy the one condition identified in the statute: to file a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the prescribed time. *See* N.R.S. 304.240(1) (emphasis added) ("A candidate of a major political party *is nominated* by filing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the time prescribed by the Secretary of State pursuant to N.R.S. 293.204."). Diverging from the plain language of the statute, the district court imports into N.R.S. 304.240(1) a separate condition from a different statute: that, before filing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy, the major party candidate must first be "designated" by her or his party's central committee in accordance with N.R.S. 293.165.

Nothing in the plain language of N.R.S. 304.240(1) supports this interpretation. On its face, N.R.S. 304.240(1) does not incorporate the procedures set forth N.R.S. 293.165. In fact, it does not even refer to N.R.S. 293.165 at all. Nor is there any language in N.R.S. 304.240(1) suggesting that a major party candidate must satisfy a second condition before being nominated and placed on the ballot. Imposing an additional statutory condition where none exists is strongly disfavored. As this

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

Court confirmed nearly one hundred years ago, "[t]he courts have neither the power nor the right to read into the statute anything not there found, nor to strike therefrom that which is there presented." Merritt v. Merritt, 40 Nev. 385, 160 P. 22 (Nev. 1916). Time and again, this Court has found that courts should not read into statutes additional requirements or conditions that the Legislature did not specifically include in the statute itself. See Pro-Max Corp. v. Feenstra, 117 Nev. 90, 95, 16 P.3d 1074, 1078, n. 7 (Nev. 2001) ("At the time the legislature could have added language limiting the application of the statute to bona fide purchasers, but it did not. From this, we conclude that the legislature did not intend for the statute to be so limited."); Binegar v. Eight Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 112 Nev. 544, 549, 915 P. 2d 889, 893 (Nev. 1996) ("The legislature could have put such llimiting language in N.R.S. 174.089(1) but chose not to do so."); Ramacciotti v. Ramacciotti, 106 Nev. 529, 531, 795 P.2d 988, 989 (Nev. 1990) ("If the legislature intended to require that a motion to modify could only be made before the child reaches 18, the legislature could have expressly included a requirement in the statute."). The judicial imposition of an additional requirement should be particularly disfavored where, as here, it restricts candidate access to the ballot.

Despite these clear admonitions, the district court held that N.R.S. 304.240's use of two phrases—"candidate of a major party" and "nominated"—compelled it to look beyond N.R.S. 304.240's plain language. This was incorrect. The district court first concluded that the phrase "candidate of a major party" was significant because it implied that "[t]here must be a process to designate a candidate, namely N.R.S. 293.165." District Court Order, R, 270. But the use of the word "candidate" here does not signify what the district court understood it to mean. Under Nevada law, a "candidate" is merely someone who files a declaration or acceptance of candidacy; this act does not require a designation by a major political party. See N.R.S. 293.177, 294A.005. When Nevada holds regularly scheduled elections pursuant to N.R.S. Chapter 293, a "candidate" becomes a "candidate of a major party" upon signing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy bearing that major party's name. See N.R.S. 293.177. This occurs well before the major party's voters have the chance to "designate" their preferred candidate in a primary election. See, e.g., N.R.S. 293.176 (providing that "no person may be a candidate of a major political party for partisan office in any

4 5

7 8

9

6

10 11

12

13 14

15 16

17 18

19 20

21

22

23 24

25 26

28

27

election if the person has changed" her or his party affiliation within a certain period of time before the election, thereby confirming that if the party member has not switched party affiliation, she may be a "candidate of a major political party" without any action by the party itself); N.R.S. 293.260 (making clear that, by the time of the primary, major political parties "ha[ve] candidates").

The district court likewise concluded that the term "nominated" in Clause 3 necessarily implies that the candidate must first be "proposed," "named," or "designated." District Court Order, R, 270 (citing Black's Law Dictionary). Even under this definition, however, there is nothing to require that the act of nomination be undertaken by a third party as opposed to the individual seeking the nomination. It is commonplace for individuals to nominate themselves for positions, awards, or other recognition. Likewise, N.R.S. Chapter 293 is replete with examples of candidates being "nominated" in different ways. When multiple parties have candidates, a major party candidate is "nominated" by filing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy and winning the most votes at the primary election. See N.R.S. 293.177, N.R.S. 293.260(2). But when only one party has candidates for a single-seat race, and only two candidates file, a major party candidate is "nominated" simply by filing the declaration or acceptance of candidacy, which is exactly how major party candidates are "nominated" in special elections. See N.R.S. 293.177, N.R.S. 293.260(4)(b) (emphasis added) ("If there are no more than twice the number of candidates to be elected to the office, the candidates must, without a primary election, be declared the nominees for the office."). In short, the statute's use of the words "candidate" and "nominated" does not in any way undermine or otherwise call into question N.R.S. 304.240(1)'s plain language.

For these reasons, the plain language of the statute clearly compels the Secretary's Interpretation. Clause 3 of N.R.S. 304.240(1) provides that a major party candidate "is nominated" by filing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the prescribed time. These words plainly mean what the Secretary interpreted them to mean: that a major party candidate is nominated and placed on the ballot by filing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy within the prescribed time. As this Court has said on many occasions, "when a statute is facially clear, we will generally not go beyond its language in determining the Legislature's intent." Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability

Comm. v. City Council of the City of Las Vegas, 125 Nev. 17, 208 P.3d 429, 437 (Nev. 2009). That is especially true, where, as here, the parties agree that there is nothing in the legislative history that calls into question the statute's plain language. On these grounds alone, this Court should reverse the judgment of the district court and uphold the Secretary's Interpretation.

# B. Even If The Plain Language Of The Special Election Statute Could Support Multiple Interpretations, The Secretary's Interpretation Is Reasonable And Should Be Afforded Deference.

Even if the plain language could support multiple interpretations, the Secretary's Interpretation is reasonable and should be afforded deference. When "a statute is ambiguous, the intent of the legislature is the controlling factor in statutory interpretation." *State v. Granite Construction Co.*, 118 Nev. 83, 87, 40 P.3d 423, 426 (Nev. 2002). But here, as the district court concluded, "the scant legislative history . . . does not assist the Court in resolving the particular matter." District Court Order, R, 267.

When legislative history cannot resolve disputes among multiple reasonable interpretations, this Court has consistently deferred to the agency's interpretation, provided that it is reasonable. *See Int'l Game Tech., Inc. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court of Nev.*, 122 Nev. 132, 157, 127 P.3d 1088, 1106 (Nev. 2006). "Where a doubt may exist as to the proper construction to be placed on a constitutional or statutory provision, courts will give weight to the construction placed thereon by other coordinate branches of government and by officers whose duty it is to execute its provisions." *Beenstock v. Villa Borega Mobile Home Parks*, 107 Nev. 979, 982, 823 P.2d 270, 272 (Nev. 1991). *See also Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 101, 127 P.3d 1057, 1070 (Nev. 2006) ("We give deference to administrative interpretations," citing *Chevron U.S.A. v. Natural Res. Def. Council*, 467 U.S. 837, 844, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 694 (1984)). Because the Secretary's Interpretation follows the plain language of N.R.S. 304.240(1), it is clearly reasonable and this Court should defer to it here.

#### 1. This Court should defer to the Secretary's reasonable interpretations.

While "[q]uestions of statutory construction are subject to de novo review by this court ... an

The district court order found that "N.R.S. 304.240 is ambiguous." District Court Order, R, 267.

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