1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	Γ OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2	NEVADA STATE DEMOCDATIC	
3	NEVADA STATE DEMOCRATIC PARTY; and ROSS MILER, IN HIS CAPACITY AS SECRETARY OF)	
4	STATE FOR THE STATE OF	Electronically Filed
5	NEVADA	Jun 08 2011 04:05 p.m. Supreme Court Npracie K. Lindeman
6	Appellants,	Clerk of Supreme Court
7	vs.	
8	NEVADA REPUBLICAN PARTY, and DAVID BUELL, an individual,	
9	Respondents.)	
10	·	
11		
12		Γ JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT,
13		CITY, NEVADA JAMES TODD RUSSELL
14		e No. 11-OC-00147 1B
15		
16	****	******
17		
18	RESPONDENTS'	ANSWERING BRIEF
19		
20		
21		
22		
	DAVID C. O'MARA, ESQ.	REW R. GOODENOW, ESQ.

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

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court, the Honorable James Russell correctly interpreted Nevada's election laws when he held that each major political party is entitled to designate its specific nominee for the vacancy in CD2, pursuant to NRS 293.165, and only that

² See www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). NRS 47.130. See www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). NRS 47.130. See www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). NRS 47.130. See www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). NRS 47.130. See www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). NRS 47.130. See www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). NRS 47.130. See www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). NRS 47.130. www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880 (filed candidates list). www.nvsos.gov/index.aspz?page=880</

³ Before 2003, the United States Constitution and Nevada statutes provided the procedures to fill a vacancy in the office of United States House of Representatives. Article 1, § 2, clause 4; see also, NRS 293.165; NRS 293.175, and NRS 293.260. This process was followed in 1954, and is still applicable today. Brown v. Georgetta, 70 Nev. 500, 507, 275 P.2d 376, 380 (1954).

4 5

10

11 12

13

14 15

16

17

18 19

20

21 22

23

24

25

26 27

28

candidate becomes the nominee for the specific political party.

Judge Russell's decision comports with the rules of statutory construction, the intent of the Nevada Legislature and the United States Constitution.

The Secretary's Interpretation not only improperly relies on statutes that are specifically inapplicable in special elections, such as this, the Interpretation conflicts with clear statutory provisions that are applicable and necessary to conduct this special election pursuant to NRS 304.240(2)(a)&(b). The Secretary's Interpretation would produce an unfair result, since it would free the major party nominees from all qualification conditions normally required of them, but still enforce the requirements pertaining to minor party and independent candidates. Finally, it would infringe the First Amendment right of association. As such, the Secretary's Interpretation is not entitled to deference.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Questions of law receive de novo review. Heller v. Give Nev. A Raise, Inc., 120 Nev. 481, 486 n.8, 96 P. 3d 732, 734 n.8 (2004). The Nevada Supreme Court is being asked to review the district court's decision to grant declaratory and injunctive relief. The District Court found that the Secretary improperly interpreted the pertinent statutes. Statutory interpretation is a question of law.

The Nevada Supreme Court "is free to decide purely legal questions, however, without deference to the agency's decision." Jones v. Rosner, 102 Nev. 215, 217, 719 P.2d 805, 806 (1986). Accordingly, this Court "may undertake independent review of the construction of a statute." Nevada Emp. Sec. Dep't v. Capri Resorts, 104 Nev. 527, 528, 763 P.2d 50, 51 (1988).

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court should affirm the Honorable James Russell's decision to preclude the Secretary from placing any individual on the election ballot, unless said individual is the designated candidate of the major political party pursuant to NRS 293.165.

Indeed, the decision by Judge Russell to require a major party candidate to be designated by his or her respective party before being placed on the ballot comports with Nevada's general election laws and adheres to the constitutional protection afforded Nevadans under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution.

The Secretary's Interpretation is, at a minimum, purely results oriented, or, at worst, lacking in understanding of Nevada's election statutes. Nevada has a primary nominating system for partisan office. NRS 293.175. For filling vacancies, the major political parties nominate, rather than conducting a primary election. NRS 293.165. The Secretary picks and chooses various statutes which are specifically precluded from a special election pursuant to NRS 293.175 to justify his interpretation, yet the Secretary intentionally ignores other statutes that govern placing a candidate on the ballot for a special election.

Additionally, as applied under the Secretary's Interpretation, NRS 304.240 violates Nevadans' constitutional rights under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, made applicable pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment, which grants Nevadans the freedom of association. The Secretary's Interpretation would specifically exclude the major parties from the election process, yet, it would allow any individual to nominate themselves as the major party's nominee for Nevada's Representative to the United States House of Representatives in violation of the United States Constitution.

VIII. LEGAL ARGUMENT

Judge James Russell's decision to grant Respondents' claim for a permanent injunction and enjoin the Secretary of State from "placing the names of members of a majority political party or a minority political party on the ballot until the candidates are designated by their respective major or minor political party pursuant to NRS 293.165" is correct, and should be affirmed. The Nevada Legislature did not intend to create the chaotic election process which the Secretary has imposed, especially since there is a substantial public interest for the election process to be conducted in an orderly way in compliance with all Nevada election law, and not as the Secretary believes, a "ballot

royale." One might ask, if the legislature intended to cut out the major political parties and allow any individual to become a nominee, then why didn't the legislature enact a statute with one sentence, "any individual may be a candidate for office simply by filing a declaration or acceptance of candidacy?" The legislature knew that the major party candidate would be designated pursuant to NRS 293.165.⁴

a. The Secretary of State's Interpretation is not entitled to deference.

The resolution of the issue before this Court rests solely on statutory construction principles, a question of law, and deference to the Secretary of State's Interpretation is not absolute. State v. State Farm, 116 Nev. 290, 293, 995 P.2d 482, 484 (2000)("[A] court will not hesitate to declare a regulation invalid when the regulation violates the constitution, conflicts with existing statutory provisions or exceeds the statutory authority of the agency or is otherwise arbitrary and capricious.") This Court may take the Secretary's interpretation for its persuasive value; however, in matters of purely legal questions, the Court may decline deference to the Interpretation and then undertake an independent review of the construction of Nevada's election statutes. Bacher v. State Engineer, 122 Nev. 1110, 1117, 146 P.3d 793, 798 (2006). Even reasonable agency interpretation of an ambiguous statute may be stricken by a court when a court determines that the agency interpretation conflicts with legislative intent. State v. State Farm, supra, 116 Nev. at 293, 995 P.2d at 484.

In this case, Secretary Miller's Interpretation, as applied, violates the Constitution,

⁴ The Minutes of the Meeting of the Assembly Committee on Elections, Procedures, and Ethics, March 27, 2003 contain a discussion between Chairwoman Giunchigliani and Janine Hansen who testified during the hearing concerning the adjustment of time to mail military or out-of-state ballots. www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/72nd2003/Minutes/Assembly/EPE/Final/2378.html. In response to the Chairwoman's question, Janine Hansen testified that the executive committees of the minor parties could act to add their "people" to the list to be filed with the Secretary of State. This testimony is based upon the procedure contained in NRS 293.165(1), although the specific reference is not contained in the minutes. The testimony on this procedure resolved the Committee's questions concerning adequacy of the timing mechanism. Thus it seems reasonable to assume that the Committee was aware of the corresponding provisions affecting the major parties in NRS 293.165(1).

conflicts with existing statutory provisions, exceeds his statutory authority, and is otherwise arbitrary and capricious, and thus, no deference to his improper decision should be given. The District Court may decide purely legal questions without deference to an agencies determination. 146 P.3d at 798. When resolving a statute, this Court has said that it will "resolve any doubt as to legislative intent in favor of what is reasonable, as against what is unreasonable. <u>Desert Valley Water Co. v. State Engineer</u>, 104 Nev. 718, 720, 766 P.2d 866, 866 (1988).

First, the Secretary's Interpretation would allow any individual to nominate themselves as a major party's nominee, in violation of every Nevadans' Constitutional Right to freedom of association.⁵ The United States Supreme Court has "continually stressed that when States regulate parties' internal processes they must act within limits imposed by the Constitution." <u>California Democratic Party v. Jones</u>, 530 U.S. 567, 573, 120 S.Ct. 2402, 2407, 147 L.Ed.2d 502 (2000).

"In no area is the political association's right to exclude more important than in the process of selecting its nominee." 530 U.S. at 575. Here, the Secretary's Interpretation states "Major political party candidates are nominated and will appear on the special election ballot by filing a declaration of candidacy or acceptance of candidacy within the time and on the form prescribed by the Secretary of State." 1 JA 32. (emphasis added). More succinctly, major party candidates nominate themselves. As the Court stated best, "a single election in which the party nominee is selected by non-arty members could be enough to destroy the party." 530 U.S. at 579.

Second, the Secretary's Interpretation conflicts with existing statutory provisions and exceeds his statutory authority as the Secretary relies on statutes that are not applicable to special elections, yet he ignores the general election statutes that are applicable.

⁵ Additional analysis and argument on this issue are provided on pages through of this opening brief and are herein incorporated and referenced herein.

10

12

13

11

14

16

15

17

18

20 21

23

24 25

26 27

28

Contrary to the NSDP's claim, NRS 293.175 not only precludes the provisions in NRS 293.175 to 293.203, inclusive, but it also precludes the provisions provided for in NRS 293.175(1)-(4), which also precludes major parties from conducting a primary election to nominate, minor parties from nominating "in a manner prescribed pursuant to NRS 293.171 to NRS 293.174, inclusive," and independents from nominating "in a manner provided in NRS 293.200." NRS 293.175(1)-(4).6 Throughout the Secretary's Interpretation, he makes reference to NRS 293.171(1), NRS 293.1715(2) and NRS 293.200 when dealing with the nominating requirements for minor and independent candidates. 1 JA 64. The Secretary's reliance on these statutes which are specifically inapplicable to special elections is in conflict with existing statutory provisions.

Further, the Secretary completely ignores NRS 293.260, which is applicable to special elections pursuant to NRS 304.240(a)&(b). NRS 293.260. If there is more than a candidate for each of the major parties in a race, then only one candidate per major party is nominated to the general election. State ex rel. Cline v. Payne, 59 Nev. 127, 130, 86 P.2d. 32, 33 (1939). This basic concept has been understood and applied in Nevada for many years. The Secretary has exceeded his statutory authority when he fails to understand or ignores Nevada's election statutes, as he has done here.

Moreover, the Secretary's actions regarding the special election show his decisions have been arbitrary and capricious. In fact, the Secretary initially claimed that the final day to resolve any issues would be July 15, 2011, yet the Interpretation only allowed for three (3) days to file the necessary documents with the Secretary of State. 3 JA 199. There is no rational reason to require a candidate to file within a three day

⁶ Interestingly, NRS 293.200 is precluded and made inapplicable to a special election, like the one in front of this Court twice. NRS 293.174(4) and NRS 293.164(5). However, the Secretary requires independent candidates to satisfy the requirements of NRS 293,200. The Secretary references subsections of NRS 193,200 four times in his Interpretation, however, this reference is incorrect and the interpretation should read as follows: The petition of candidacy required for an independent candidate must comply with the requirements set forth in NRS 293.200(2), NRS 293.200(3), NRS 293.200(5) and NRS 293.200(6). Compare 1 JA 33 with NRS 293.200.

9

10

11

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

2.7

28

window, except to preclude a party or individual from challenging the Secretary's decision. Additionally, as shown by the State's argument in the district court, it changed its position and stated that all issues must be resolved by July 8, 2011. 3 JA 199. Now, today, as this issue is presented to the Nevada Supreme Court, the Secretary again changes the deadline to resolve the issues, and again, restricts the time to July 6, 2011, claiming that information unknown at the time the motion to expedite was filed. Declaration of Secretary of State Ross Miller, filed May 26, 2011 in Supreme Court Case No. 58404 (1:19-24).⁷

The plain language of NRS 304.240 compels the Nevada b. Supreme Court to accept the district court's findings.

A thoughtful and comprehensive reading on NRS 304.240 with the understanding of Nevada's election process will allow only one reading and method of implementation of the provisions of NRS 304.240 and that is to allow the state central committees to designate their respective candidate and have that individual placed on the special election ballot. Respondents agree with Judge Russell that NRS 304.240 is ambiguous. Even if the language is clear, however, in order for a major party candidate to be nominated and placed on the special election ballot, the candidate must be designated by the respective parties' central committee.

In fact, Appellants have accepted the premise that if there is no primary, as in all special elections, then the political parties nominate their candidate under NRS 293.165. NSDP Brief, 17:5-10. Specifically, NSDP admits that:

NRS 293.165 is a fallback mechanism that applies only where the standard nomination procedure set forth by the statute does not lead to the selection of a nominee or the placement of that nominee on the ballot. Where such a vacancy exists, it "may be filled by a candidate designated by the party central committee... of the major political party.

The State attempts to argue that "Chapter 293 controls only to the extent NRS

How is it possible that the Chief Elections Official is unaware of the simple procedures of printing the ballots, especially since the Chief Elections Official would have determined this date before issuing his Interpretation?

304.240(1) itself does not provide the nomination procedures." Unfortunately, what the State's Interpretation fails to recognize is that NRS Chapter 293 applies to all election matters, not just the nomination process. NRS 304.240(2)(a)& (b).8

Appellants' reliance on a single sentence within NRS 304.240 without considering other statues within Chapter 293 produces an unreasonable and absurd result. Indeed, as Judge Russell correctly held, the important words in NRS 304.240 are, "a candidate of a major political party" and that the word candidate implies that an action must be taken for an individual to become the "candidate of a major political party" and not that any member of the political party is nominated. As such, in order to designate a candidate of a major political party, the provisions of NRS 293.165 must be followed. NRS 293.165.

Even assuming that every member, or in this case, even a non-member of a political party can nominate themselves as a candidate for the congressional election as Appellants argue, there is no mechanism to place each of these individuals on the ballot, except through NRS Chapter 293, which is specifically referenced in NRS 304.240. Courts should construe statutes to give meaning to all or their parts and language and has read each sentence, phrase, and word to render it meaningful within the context of the purpose of the legislation. Coast Hotels v. State, Labor Comm'n, 117 Nev. 835, 841, 34 P.3d 546, 550 (2001).

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